RECEIVED
AUG 22 2016
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2016-001334

Caria Gorritz.....Appellant

v.

Prime Financial Services.....Respondent

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Caria Gorritz
128 Castlewood Lane
Elgin, South Carolina 29045
803-446-7841
Pro-Se

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DISMISSING THE APPELLANTS CASE FOR FAILURE TO PROSECUTE WHEN APPELLANT DID NOT RECEIVE NOTICE OF THE HEARING AND WHEN RESPONDENTS ATTORNEY FILED A MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE ON THE SAME DAY THE COURT DISMISSED THE CASE WHEN THERE WAS NO HISTORY OF APPELLANT PROCEEDING IN A "DILATORY FASHION" AND WHEN RESPONDENT'S ATTORNEY FAILED TO DISCLOSE TO THE COURT THE FILING OF THE MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal results from the dismissal of the Appellant's case by the Honorable Casey Manning, on May 20, 2016, in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas, Civil Action No. 2016-CP-40-1407.

Appellant appealed a ruling in favor of Respondent on an Ejectment Action in the Pontiac Magistrate's Court by the Honorable Judge Andy Surles that she was a tenant and did not have an ownership interest in her home based upon a written lease agreement with Respondent. Appellant posted a cash bond in the amount of \$5,629.70 to be held in escrow and complied with term of the lease agreement by paying Respondent a monthly amount of \$830.99. Appellant did not receive notice of the hearing scheduled on May 20, 2016. As a result of dismissal of Appellant's case, the cash bond amount of \$5,629.70 was released to Respondent by order of the Honorable Judge Andy Surles on June 15, 2016.

Judge Manning's Order of May 26, 2016, written by Respondent's attorney, dismissing the Appellant's case, did not reflect what took place at the hearing and the Order does not comport with the case law in South Carolina. The Appellant clearly did not fail to prosecute her case. Appellant asserts that Judge Manning erred in dismissing Appellant's case. Appellant received a notice of eviction from the Richland county Sheriff's Office on June 21, 2016 and filed this appeal.

FACTS

Appellant did not receive notice by mail from the Court for the hearing scheduled on May 20, 2016 and there is no mailing receipt, proof of service, or any other evidence in the Transcript of Record (the "Record") that Appellant was given proper notice of the hearing. No exhibits were introduced during the hearing (R. p.3). When asked by Judge Manning whether Appellant received notice, Respondent's attorney responded that he "never talked to her" (R. p.4. lines 5-7). Judge Manning then asserts, "Yes, she got notice", but does not state where that information came from (R. p.4. lines 8-9). There is no proof of service, mailing receipt, or any other evidence that either the court or Respondent's attorney provided notice of the hearing to Appellant in the Record (R. p.3). The Appellant did not know about the May 20th hearing until she received the Order of Dismissal by mail from Respondent's attorney.

Moreover, the Order states "Attorney for the Respondent asked the court to allow him to withdraw a motion of continuance filed with the Clerk of Court", (Order, page 1). However, the Record shows that this conversation never took place. When asked by Judge Manning if he had a motion, Respondent's attorney replied, "Yes. Our motion is to deny her appeal" (R. p.4. lines 8-12). No such motion was made and Respondent's attorney did not disclose to Judge Manning that he had filed a motion seeking a continuance. In fact, an awkward exchange shows that it was Judge Manning's idea to dismiss the appeal for lack of prosecution, and not Respondent's attorney (R. p4. Lines 13).

ARGUMENTS

BECAUSE THE APPELLANT DID NOT RECEIVE NOTICE OF THE HEARING AND APPELLANT HAD POSTED A CASH BOND TO PROTECT RESPONDENT'S RIGHTS THE SANCTION OF DISMISSAL IS TOO HARSH UNDER THE FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS CASE.

Both Federal and State court decisions support the policy that a person should be

given the opportunity to try their case and that dismissal is reserved for extreme cases only. "Dismissal is a harsh sanction which should be resorted to only in extreme cases." Dyotherm Corporation v. Turbo Machine Company, 392 F.2d 146 (3rd Cir. 1968); McCargo V. Hedrick, 545 F.2d 393 (4th Cir. 1976); McComas v. Ross (S.C. Ct. App. 2006); and Richman v. General Motors Corporation, 437 F.2d 196 (1st Cir. 1971). "A sanction imposed should be reasonable, and the court should not go beyond the necessities of the situation to foreclose a decision on the merits of the case." OZO, Inc. v. Moyer, 358 S.C. 246, 594 S.E.2d 541 (Ct. App. 2004); Karppi v. Greenville, 327 S.C. 538, 489 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 1997); The Balloon Plantation, Inc. v. Head Balloons, Inc., 303 S.C. 152, 399 S.E.2d 439 (1990); Griffin Grading and Clearing v. Tire Service Equipment Manufacturing Company, Inc., 334 S.C. 193, 511 S.E.2d 716 (Ct. App.1999). In Durham v. Florida East Cost Ry. Co., the Court held that "except in extreme circumstances, the court should first resort to the wide range of lesser sanctions which it may impose upon the litigant..." 385 F.2d 366 (5th Cir. 1967). The Durham court, "while recognizing and enforcing the exercise of the power of final disposition of litigation as a sanction in some cases, has adopted the view that such action is too harsh except in extreme circumstances." *Id.* "Indeed, dismissal is generally permitted only in the face of a clear record of delay or contumacious conduct by the plaintiff," Dailey v. Paine, 539 F.2d 705 (4th Cir. 1976); Durham, Supra. Other cases decided upon by the same court emphasize the importance, "except in the most flagrant circumstance, of resorting to sanctions that do not deprive a litigant of his day in court" are Woodham v. American Cystoscope Company of Pelham, 335 F.2d 551 (5th Cir. 1964) and Council of Federated Organizations v. Mize, 339 F.2d 898 (5th Cir. 1964). "Dismissal of an action... is a drastic remedy, which should be used only in extreme situations, as the court has a wide range of lesser sanctions." Flaska v. Little River Marine Construction Co., 389 F.2d 885 (5th Cir. 1968).

In the present case, Appellant has made continuing efforts in prosecuting this matter, including posting a bond in the amount of \$5,629.70, at great financial hardship, to be able to have her day in a

court with proper jurisdiction to interpret and enforce her lease purchase agreement which has been breached by Respondent. It is not reasonable to argue that Appellant received notice of the May 20th hearing since she knew she would be lose her cash bond. Appellant has unnecessarily been deprived of, not only her day in court, but of \$5,629.70, which has been turned over to Respondent by the Magistrate Court (Magistrate Order attached). From these facts and circumstances, it is clear that her absence from the hearing was not an intentional delay and she was clearly not actin in a “dilatatory fashion.”

Judge Manning erroneously stated in the Record; “She filed a notice of continuance but she withdrew it. Put all of that in there. Don’t put too much in it. Protect yourself” (R. p.5. lines-2-5). In fact, Appellant never filed a motion for continuance and there is no evidence in the Record of such motion being filed with the Clerk of Court for this case. Furthermore, Respondent did not need to “protect” himself because of the cash bond. This was not an intentional delay but the result of not receiving proper notice from either Respondent’s attorney or the Court as supported by the Record. The circumstances of this case would not be considered an “extreme situation” or “flagrant circumstance” or “unreasonable neglect” by Appellant under case law and does not warrant the harsh sanction of dismissal. The Court in Dailey stated that, “...the discretion granted under [South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 41(b)] Fed. R. Civ. P. 41(b) should be exercised discreetly, and only after due consideration of the availability of sanctions less severe than dismissal.” *Supra*.

BECAUSE RESPONDENT’S ATTORNEY FILED A
MOTION OF CONTINUANCE WITH THE CLERK
OF COURT ON MAY 20, 2016 AND
RESPONDENT’S RIGHTS WERE
PROTECTED APPELLANT DID NOT
FAIL TO PROSECUTE HER CASE AND
APPELLANT’S CASE SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN
DISMISSED FOR FAILURE TO PROSECUTE

In McComas, the Court rejected an argument supporting dismissal based on Bond v. Corbin, 68 S.C. 294, 47 S.E.2d 374 (1904) due to distinguishable facts. “The trial court gave the plaintiff in Bond two opportunities to correct his failure to appear, including the benefit of an extra day, although his

counsel had agreed to the trial date.” *Id.* A look at the Federal authority discloses that “[a] sanction which results in a default or dismissal is harsh punishment which should be imposed only if there is some showing of willful disobedience or gross indifference to the rights of the adverse party.” QZO, Inc., *Supra*. “The decided cases, while noting that dismissal is a discretionary matter, have generally permitted it only in the face of a clear record of delay or contumacious conduct by the plaintiff,” Richman, *Supra*; Reizakis v. Loy, 490 F.2d 1132 (4th Cir. 1974).

As in McComas, the facts in the present case do not show any history of delay or deliberately proceeding in a dilatory fashion. Nor is there “some showing of willful disobedience or gross indifference to the rights of the adverse party.” QZO, Inc., *Supra*. To the contrary, Appellant actively pursued her case including paying a cash bond to protect Respondent’s rights. Appellant has unjustly been deprived of the full amount of the cash bond because of this dismissal. The Respondent’s attorney’s filing for a motion of continuance on the day of the hearing is important because it clearly shows that Judge Manning could have imposed a lesser sanction (a continuous) to give Appellant another opportunity to appear, and, most importantly, that granting the continuance to Respondent would not have prejudiced Respondent in any way. McComas, and QZO, Inc. Unfortunately, the Record shows that Respondent’s attorney took advantage of Appellant’s absence to withdraw the motion of continuance in favor of dismissal. The motion for continuance was filed at 9:03 A.M. on May 20, 2016 and the motion to withdraw was filed at 10:39 A.M. on the same day. There is absolutely no record of any history of the Appellant deliberately proceeding in a “dilatory fashion”. The Record clearly shows that Judge Manning did not contemplate or consider any sanctions less drastic than dismissal.