THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

NOV 21 2016

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. IS THE CURRENT APPEAL PREMATURE DUE TO APPELLANT'S FILING OF A MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS, FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, WHICH IS CURRENTLY PENDING?**
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S APPEAL FOR FAILURE TO PROSECUTE?**
- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT PREJUDICE APPELLANT BY DISMISSING APPELLANT'S APPEAL DESPITE RESPONDENT'S WITHDRAWAL OF MOTION OF CONTINUANCE?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Ejectment Action underlying the first appeal giving rise to this current Appeal was initiated by Respondent due to Appellant's violation of a lease agreement and failure to pay rent. The Ejectment Action (2016-CV-40-10900010) was heard before Pontiac Magistrate Andy Surles on February 29, 2016, who ruled in favor of Respondent/Plaintiff finding Appellant/Defendant for violation of a lease agreement, past due rent, and accumulation of fees. (Magistrate Order of April 4, 2016). Appellant/Defendant filed an appeal of the Magistrate's Order of Eviction. A bond hearing was heard by Pontiac Magistrate Surles on April 4, 2016 and found Appellant/Defendant had not paid rent to Respondent/Plaintiff for five months and thus set Bond in the amount of \$5629.70 be held in escrow until the conclusion of the Ejectment Action appeal.

Appellant's appeal came before the Honorable L. Casey Manning on May 20, 2016 in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas, Civil Action No. 2016-CP-40-1407, and subsequently was dismissed for Appellant's failure to prosecute. (Order of May 26, 2016). On June 15, 2016, Respondent filed a Writ of Ejectment and Recovery of Past Due Rent and Fees as Ordered which was granted the same day by the Honorable Judge Andy Surles. Appellant was notified of the Order of Dismissal and her right to appeal the Order via Certified Mail Restricted Delivery on or about June 8, 2016 (Respondent's counsel received receipt of delivery signed by Appellant). (Certified Mail Receipt, dated June 10, 2016). Appellant filed Notice of Appeal on June 20, 2016 in the Court of Appeals, Fifth Judicial Circuit and Initial Brief of Appellant was served upon Respondent on August 22, 2016.

Unbeknownst to Respondent, on June 10, 2016 Appellant filed a Rule 59 motion for a new trial in the Court of Common Pleas in the 5th Judicial District; however, Appellant failed to serve or give notice of this motion to Respondent. Respondent was unaware of Appellant's motion for a new trial until approximately November 1, 2016 when notified by the office of the Honorable L. Casey Manning. Respondent filed a motion to dismiss the instant appeal pursuant to Rule 201(a) in this Court on November 7, 2016 and that motion is currently pending resolution.

### **FACTS**

At the hearing on May 20, 2016, the Honorable Casey L. Manning stated on the record, “[y]es, she (Appellant) got notice.” (Transcript p. 4, l. 8). Respondent, however, had no issues with receipt of notice from the Court regarding the hearing. Respondent filed a motion to continue due to filing his brief late. While Judge Manning did not receive a brief from Appellant, his chambers were in possession of Respondent's brief, though filed late. Respondent thus withdrew his motion to continue and the hearing proceeded, resulting in an Order of Dismissal of Appellant's appeal. Prior to initiating the actions which gave rise to the present action, counsel for Respondent tried to contact Appellant by telephone and email prior to the hearing to no avail. Respondent repeats the Procedural History of this matter as set forth in the Statement of the Case.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“Whether an action should be dismissed for failure to prosecute is left to the discretion of the trial court judge, and his decision will not be disturbed, except upon a clear abuse of discretion.” Small v. Mungo, 254 S.C. 438, 442, 175 S.E.2d 802, 804 (1970). “An abuse of discretion arises where the trial judge was controlled by an error of

law or where his order is based on factual conclusions that are without evidentiary support.” Coleman v. Dunlap, 306 S.C. 491, 495, 413 S.E.2d 15, 17 (1992). “The Court of Appeals will presume that an affirmance by a Circuit Court of a magistrate's judgment was made upon the merits where the testimony is sufficient to sustain the magistrate's judgment and there are no facts that show the affirmance was influenced by an error of law.” Parks v. Characters Night Club, 345 S.C. 484, 490, 548 S.E.2d 605, 608 (Ct. App. 2001). “A circuit judge has the right to direct how a case shall be tried. If he is wrong in the mode of this trial, this court will correct on appeal. When the appellant refused to proceed with the trial when ordered by the court, nonsuit was proper.” McComas v. Ross, 368 S.C. 59, 70, 626 S.E.2d 902, 908 (Ct. App. 2006)

#### **AGRUMENT**

**I. Appellant’s Appeal Should be Dismissed as Premature Because Appellant Filed a Motion for a New Trial in the Court of Common Pleas in the Fifth Judicial Circuit which is Still Pending.**

Rule 201(a) of South Carolina Appellate Court Rules provides that an appeal may be taken from any final judgment. SCACR 201(a). On June 10, 2016, Appellant filed a motion for a new trial with the circuit court (Appellant did not specify which Rule of Civil Procedure on which she based her motion). (Notice of Appeal, June 10, 2016). Respondent was not notified of that filing until November 1, 2016 when the offices of Judge Manning contacted Respondent to notify of a new trial on the motion roster. That motion is currently awaiting a final determination. Respondent promptly filed a motion to dismiss Appellant’s appeal pending before this Court on November 7. (Motion to Dismiss, November 7, 2016). Respondent’s motion for dismissal is currently pending before this Court. As SCACR 201(a) provides that an appeal may only be taken

from a final judgment, Appellant's appeal to this Court must be dismissed as the ruling of the trial court she seeks to appeal is currently awaiting final determination in that court.

**II. Appellant's Appeal Should be Dismissed for Failure to File a Timely SCRPC Rule 60 Motion to Set Aside the Order.**

"Relief from a final judgment must be had through Rule 60 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure." Thompson v. Ballentine, 298 S.C. 289, 291, 379 S.E.2d 896, 898 (1989). Prior to filing this appeal, Appellant failed to file a Rule 60 motion to set aside the order of dismissal by the trial judge. Rule 60(b) provides for relief from a final judgment, order, or proceeding in the case of mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect and a motion pursuant must be entered within a reasonable time. SCRPC 60. In order to preserve an issue for appeal, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the circuit court. RRR, Inc. v. Toggas, 378 S.C. 174, 185, 662 S.E.2d 438, 443 (Ct. App. 2008). As Appellant argues in her appeal to this Court that the trial court dismissed her appeal in error, the proper procedure for Appellant to seek relief from that judgment would have been to file a Rule 60(b) motion with the trial court. (Int. Brief of App. p.7). Appellant did file a motion with the trial court, requesting reversal of the order of dismissal and a new trial, but failed to specify the Rules pursuant to which she filed the motion. As South Carolina appellate courts do not observe the "plain error rule," under which courts are allowed to consider and correct an error not raised by the party below, Respondent respectfully asks this Court to dismiss Appellant's appeal for failure to preserve issues for appeal. Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004).

**III. The Trial Court Properly Dismissed Appellant's Appeal from the Judgment of Pontiac Magistrate Andy Surles Based on Appellant's Failure to Prosecute nor was Appellant Prejudiced by Respondent's Withdrawal of Motion to Continue.**

Appellant's contention that the trial court dismissed her appeal for failure to prosecute is without merit. The Richland County Public Index shows that notice of the May 20, 2016 hearing was sent to Appellant on April 29, 2016. (Richland County Public Index). At the hearing, Judge Manning asked whether or not Appellant had received notice, to which counsel replied he had not spoken with her ("I've never talked to her. She's the appellant). (Transcript p. 4, l. 4-7). Despite Judge Manning appearing to direct this question at counsel, it is likely that the Judge was asking the court this question, as it would not have been Respondent or Respondent's counsel's responsibility to ensure notice of the hearing to Appellant. (Notice of Motion Scheduling, April 29, 2016). Further, Judge Manning clarified, "[a]ll right. Yes, she got notice." (Transcript, p. 4, l.8-9). When an action at law is tried without a jury, a trial court's findings will be upheld on appeal when they are reasonably supported by the evidence. Wilder v. Blue Ribbon Taxicab Corp., 396 S.C. 139, 144 719 S.E.2d 703, 706 (Ct. App. 2011). As Judge Manning came to the conclusion that Appellant received notice, this Court should uphold his finding as supported by the public record, and further uphold Judge Manning's order of dismissal for Appellant's failure to prosecute. (Richland County Public Index).


Appellant asserts that because Respondent filed a motion to continue with the circuit court the morning of the May 20, 2016 hearing, followed shortly thereafter by a motion to withdraw the motion to continue, Appellant did not fail to prosecute her case. (Int. Brief of App. p. 7). This contention is without merit, as Appellant was not aware of either motion submitted by Respondent prior to the commencement of the hearing and

therefore cannot base her failure to appear at the hearing on the basis that she was under the impression the hearing had been continued. Further, Judge Manning addressed Respondent's motion in his Order of Dismissal, finding the motion to continue withdrawn. (Order of May 26, 2016).

### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments, Respondent respectfully asks this Court to affirm the Order of Dismissal by the trial court and further dismiss Appellant's present appeal.